# A ANNUAL REVIEWS

# Annual Review of Psychology Social Media Elements, Ecologies, and Effects

# Joseph B. Bayer,<sup>1</sup> Penny Triệu,<sup>2</sup> and Nicole B. Ellison<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Communication, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio 43210, USA; email: bayer.66@osu.edu

<sup>2</sup>School of Information, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109, USA; email: dieptl@umich.edu, enicole@umich.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2020. 71:471-97

First published as a Review in Advance on September 13, 2019

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050944

Copyright © 2020 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

# **Keywords**

social psychology, computer-mediated communication, profiles, networks, streams, messages, social network sites

# Abstract

This review delineates core components of the social media ecosystem, specifying how online platforms complicate established social psychological effects. We assess four pairs of social media elements and effects: profiles and self-presentation; networks and social mobilization; streams and social comparison; and messages and social connectedness. In the process, we describe features and affordances that comprise each element, underscoring the complexity of social media contexts as they shift to a central topic within psychology. Reflecting on this transitional state, we discuss how researchers will struggle to replicate the effects of dynamic social environments. Consequently, we outline the obstacles in isolating effects that reoccur across platforms, as well as the challenges and opportunities that come with measuring contexts across periods. By centering on the elements that define the online ecosystem, psychological research can establish a more durable foundation for replicating the effects of social media and chronicling the evolution of social interaction.

# Contents

REINTRODUCING SOCIAL MEDIA	472
Defining Social Media	473
Social Media Elements	474
EXPLICATING SOCIAL MEDIA	476
The Profile Element	476
The Network Element	479
The Stream Element	481
The Message Element	483
MEASURING SOCIAL MEDIA	485
Historical Durability	485
Researcher Control	486
Elements	487
Ecologies and Effects	488
REMEMBERING SOCIAL MEDIA	489

# **REINTRODUCING SOCIAL MEDIA**

Like earlier forms of communication technology, social media are believed to have psychological effects that users and researchers are still attempting to identify, articulate, and define. Even the platforms themselves are difficult to describe. Earlier renditions of communication media (telegraph, telegram, radio, film, telephone, etc.) could be described in terms that drew from public understandings of previous media—the television as a smaller version of the film screen, for instance. Contemporary media platforms, however, represent a nebulous constellation of features that evoke older channels as well as newer interfaces, providing an experience that is evocative of both mass media and interpersonal channels. And social media platforms iterate, incessantly. In the 15 years since thefacebook.com bounced around college halls and monitors, much has changed on the website-turned-platform, not to mention its expired neighbors such as Friendster, AIM, and Vine.

# Social media:

computer-mediated communication channels that allow users to engage in social interaction with broad and narrow audiences in real time or asynchronously

Social network site (SNS): a subclass of social media that is defined by three elements: profile, network, and stream Despite such dynamism, there are core facets of social media that have proven resilient in their (ongoing) placement in communication history. This review reflects on some of the key social psychological implications of social media, while considering how the features of online contexts shape their effects. Previous reviews have discussed the moving-target problem of online technology research (Gosling & Mason 2015, Valkenburg et al. 2016)—that is, the challenge of researching media artifacts and effects that are constantly in flux. It is clear by now that no simple solution to this problem exists. At the same time, some approaches are more likely to produce enduring knowledge about social technologies than others. Here, we reconsider how researchers can establish the contextual stability that is necessary to ground psychological effects long after Facebook is decommissioned.

Research on the psychological implications of social media can be understood within the rubric of media effects. A number of reviews in recent years have delineated the existing literature on media effects and Internet psychology (e.g., Gosling & Mason 2015, Okdie et al. 2014, Valkenburg et al. 2016). Similar to media psychology research at large, social media research is an especially difficult area to summarize due to its interdisciplinary nature (see Fox & McEwan 2020). Earlier this decade, reviews concerning the antecedents and outcomes of one particularly popular social network site (SNS), Facebook, began to appear in various psychology, communication, and human–computer interaction (HCI) outlets (Anderson et al. 2012, Błachnio et al. 2013, Caers et al. 2013, Wilson et al. 2012). These reviews identified a range of focal topics within the literature, including types of users, types of uses, identity presentation, relationship initiation, relationship maintenance, and social interaction, among other psychological precursors and outcomes.

Although numerous online platforms vie for user attention today, a disproportionate amount of research has focused on Facebook, leading to concerns about generalizability (Rains & Brunner 2015, Stoycheff et al. 2017). In recent years, the social media literature has blossomed into a large landscape that spans many disciplines and subfields, extending well beyond the purview of our review. Social media now touch almost every dimension of human experience, and academic scholarship increasingly reflects this diversity. While reviews of central platforms and broad outcomes are essential, they can also oversimplify how social technologies become interwoven in the lives and mentalities of their users. Despite the utopian and dystopian narratives that often emerge in response to the introduction of new technologies (Baym 2015), empirical research often reveals a more complicated story about contextual and conditional media effects (Bayer et al. 2018, Valkenburg et al. 2016). Basic cognitive processes are still activated when individuals interact in social media contexts, and online platforms should be expected to reshape and redirect how the same underlying mechanisms occur (Clark et al. 2018, Sparrow & Chatman 2013, Tamir & Ward 2015). Nonetheless, the ability to share momentary thoughts, identity characteristics, and quotidian activities with curated social networks has clearly affected how we as users understand ourselves and our social worlds. The embeddedness of these everyday tools, in turn, offers researchers innovative ways to explicate and extend theory.

For these reasons, our goal differs from past compilations of the media psychology literature. Rather than attempting a comprehensive explication of media effect theories (e.g., Valkenburg et al. 2016) or rising trends within online psychology research (Gosling & Mason 2015), we focus on a subset of social psychological processes that are linked to key components, or elements, of social media. Along the way, we consider the need to situate the psychological effects of social media within defined contexts, and we discuss the obstacles inherent in measuring and replicating those effects over time. Altogether, our review aims to align the moving target with psychological questions that go above and across particular platforms.

# **Defining Social Media**

There is not one commonly accepted scholarly (or colloquial) definition of social media. In part, this lack of integration is due to the fast-changing nature of social media noted above, which makes it difficult to create a static description of fluid interaction tools. Moreover, the fact that social media exhibit qualities of both mass media and interpersonal communication makes them complicated to define (Vorderer et al. 2018). At the highest level, social media can be categorized under the umbrella term of computer-mediated communication (CMC), often associated with online technologies more generally (Kiesler et al. 1984, Walther 2011). Carr & Hayes's (2015, p. 50) well-accepted definition, which we adopt for this article, suggests that social media must have five discrete requirements: "Social media are Internet-based, disentrained, and persistent channels of masspersonal communication facilitating perceptions of interactions among users, deriving value primarily from user-generated content." In other words, social media must be Internet-based (i.e., online) as well as disentrained, meaning that they support asynchronous or non-live social interaction. Also, social media should be interactive, or perceived as social in nature, and user-generated, meaning that their central value must come from social interaction with other users. Finally, social media are masspersonal in that they allow users to broadcast interpersonal communication to large audiences.

Computer-mediated communication (CMC): social interaction occurring on computers or via the Internet, such as email, instant messaging, blogs, and social media exchanges **Profile:** a social media element enabling users to maintain unique collections of personal attributes created by the user, their network, and/or the platform

Stream: a social media element that allows users to consume and/or engage with feeds of user-generated content provided by their network

#### Network:

a social media element representing social connections, such as a collection of contacts created via mutual "friending" or one-way "following" Overall, existing definitions tend to emphasize how social media expand the capabilities of faceto-face interaction to provide new opportunities for finding, observing, and interacting efficiently with others across time and space. In doing so, such definitions reflect the larger shift toward an integration of one-on-one forms of communication (e.g., face-to-face, letters, texting) with one-to-many channels (e.g., television, radio) that were more distinct in past eras of society and research (O'Sullivan & Carr 2018). Still, there remains substantial debate over the definition(s) of social media among researchers (Fox & McEwan 2020), leading to variability in the measurement practices of psychological studies.

Social psychological researchers have often focused on a subclass of social media known as social network sites (SNSs), due in part to their high levels of use (Guadagno et al. 2016). Such work frequently adopts boyd & Ellison's (2007) definition, which describes SNSs as "web-based services that allow individuals to (1) construct a public or semipublic profile within a bounded system, (2) articulate a list of other users with whom they share a connection, and (3) view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system" (boyd & Ellison 2007, p. 211). This early definition was later updated to highlight the role of networked communication, acknowledge the co-constructed nature of the profile, and call attention to the stream (Ellison & boyd 2013). Though this definition was originally developed to help SNS researchers synthesize across studies and distinguish SNSs from other social media channels popular during that era (e.g., blogs), some work does treat SNSs as representing social media overall or fails to distinguish between the two terms (see Carr & Hayes 2015).

Another definitional challenge stems from academic and colloquial associations between the technology itself (e.g., Facebook, the social media application) and the business entity responsible for its production (e.g., Facebook Inc., the company), which operates within a complex set of organizational, economic, political, legal, and cultural constraints. In recent years, technology scholars have shifted from discussing websites to acknowledging specific branded social media and technology platforms, highlighting the fact that these sites are created by industry entities with economic (and other) agendas and now encompass a broad set of services integrated within one another. The growth of what were originally websites (e.g., Twitter.com) and mobile applications (e.g., Snapchat) into sprawling digital architectures and platforms has numerous ramifications for society (e.g., Sujon et al. 2018), as well as for psychological researchers. For example, the synthesis of major platforms with other software (e.g., Facebook's integration into Spotify) complicates the task of researching a given medium. Is a Facebook-based profile on Tinder best studied as a component of Facebook, Tinder, or a new hybrid medium? Likewise, the frequent acquisitions of emerging channels (e.g., Instagram, WhatsApp) by more established technology companies (e.g., Facebook Inc.) blur the perceived and actual differences between them as their systems become synchronized. While these industry changes may seem at first to be the domain of economists or computer scientists, corporate changes may influence user perceptions-and thus use-of the channels. Hence, a social media platform is much more than an online brand, even though the major social media platforms may be strongly tied to their public branding (e.g., logos, products, promotions, etc.) among users and societies. In sum, the dynamic nature of online platforms results in dynamic understandings of how best to define social media.

# **Social Media Elements**

The tendency of researchers to concentrate on SNSs such as Facebook (see Rains & Brunner 2015, Stoycheff et al. 2017) likely reflects bias toward the largest platforms, as well as the clear difficulty in categorizing a comprehensive set of social tools in a cohesive manner (cf. Carr & Hayes 2015). A growing number of perspectives have called attention to the risk in overgeneralizing findings

from studies on fleeting sites, apps, and/or platforms (e.g., Carr & Hayes 2015, Fox & McEwan 2017, Stoycheff et al. 2017). As such, concerns about the long-term replicability of technology research have invigorated the discussion of more robust approaches for tackling the moving-target problem. Although there is no foolproof solution for overcoming the fundamental issue—the fact that specific features are bound to be elevated or eliminated—some approaches have proven useful to social media researchers.

An affordances approach may help researchers synthesize findings across studies, time periods, and specific social media platforms. Such perspectives call attention to the perceived uses, or affordances, of an artifact rather than its technical or physical features (DeVito et al. 2017, Evans et al. 2016, Fox & McEwan 2017, Treem & Leonardi 2013). Affordances (e.g., synchronicity of message exchange) thus provide a flexible way of characterizing the object of study (e.g., Apple iMessage), while also allowing for comparisons across objects (e.g., Facebook Messenger) independent of the historical moment. So even when a photo-sharing platform changes over time, insights related to its core affordances—such as persistence, or the degree to which the channel saves content by default—remain relevant and comparable to future research. By focusing on high-level attributes that transcend specific technologies when examining social media uses and outcomes, insights from studies of one platform can be understood in the context of other media that share the same affordances (Ellison & boyd 2013).

As with most research strategies, however, the affordances approach comes with some limitations. Most notably, it can be challenging to capture the complete set of affordances that comprise a given social medium or to clarify what makes social media distinctive (Carr & Hayes 2015), especially given individual differences in users' perceptions of online social interaction (Clark & Green 2018). Hence, the abstract nature of affordances, combined with the complexity of social media, may require numerous (and potentially unique) affordances to realistically describe how users perceive a single channel in meaningful ways. Furthermore, it can be difficult to examine one affordance when this affordance is always accompanied by others within the virtual environment. Sometimes naturally co-occurring factors can be disentangled through creative research design (e.g., Walther et al. 2011), but often these affordances are confounded empirically (Fox & McEwan 2017). Finally, given their emphasis on conscious perception, affordances are not well suited to capturing dimensions of behavior that rely on more automatic and unconscious forms of cognition (Bayer & LaRose 2018). Altogether, it can be difficult to reconcile the abstract affordances of social media with the way users understand platforms in practice. Such obstacles likely contribute to the common focus on well-known platforms, which allows researchers to examine effects tied to broad contexts (e.g., Facebook) about which users have a shared understandingeven if those contexts are unstable.

Another approach for examining the psychological implications of social media over time is to examine the core components, or elements, that users understand, navigate, and engage with regularly. As described above, three elements have been used to define SNSs in the past: the profile, the network, and the stream (Ellison & boyd 2013, Ellison & Vitak 2015). The three elements of SNSs do not constitute the full spectrum of social media experiences, but they shape how users (and researchers) think about social media at large. In other words, these online spaces contribute to the set of expectations, schemas, and scripts that individuals draw on when making sense of social media. Elements, in turn, have provided a foundation for researchers to conceptualize and measure social media across various platforms. Compared to affordances, elements are rooted in how users approach and operate social media in practice. That is, elements demarcate the building blocks of social media environments in a manner that aligns with everyday perceptions, prioritizing ecological validity in combination with the basic features and affordances described above.

### Message:

a social media element allowing users to engage in directed social interaction using text, video, photo, or other media Social media element: an established component of the social media ecosystem that is understood through a common set of features and affordances across different channels Here, we treat a social media element as an established component of the social media ecosystem that is understood through a common set of features and affordances across different channels. Going beyond affordances, elements encourage researchers to move away from gross measures of overall use (e.g., total time) and toward a tool kit approach specifying what sets of features individuals leverage to accomplish various goals (Smock et al. 2011). A social media element, such as a profile, is not a single affordance or feature. An element contains a predefined combination of affordances and features but is not tethered to a particular platform: That is, individuals have expectations for what a profile is, regardless of whether they have one themselves and independent of which platforms they use. A profile has salient features and affordances that help to characterize it, yet it is still understood as a discrete object that appears across different social channels. In the next sections, we review the links between key elements and social psychological effects, displaying how certain online contexts complicate the ways in which established processes occur.

# **EXPLICATING SOCIAL MEDIA**

Below, we delineate and describe four elements of social media, as well as notable features and affordances linked to them in past work. We draw our first three from Ellison & boyd's (2013) definition of SNSs: the profile, the network, and the stream. The fourth element, the message, is another critical and central component of the social media ecosystem that has not been explicitly considered in past definitions. Indeed, messaging is now the social backbone of many social media platforms, often serving as a "backchannel" (Ling & Lai 2016) to circumvent the challenges of larger social groups. For each coupling, we provide a brief review of research connecting an element to an effect, spotlighting a key challenge that appears for social media users as a consequence. Nonetheless, our review should not imply that all social media platforms include these four elements, nor that these four effects are the only important social psychological processes to consider for a given element.

Beyond reviewing links among the four elements and their effects, the sections below discuss how social media challenge our understanding of basic psychological processes. In other words, by displaying how an established process occurs in a novel environment, social media reveal how effects diverge as a function of context and locate factors that researchers take for granted when studying classic contexts. For example, the contrast between sharing content on more permanent (e.g., Facebook) and more ephemeral (e.g., Snapchat) platforms can demonstrate how cognition depends on certain dimensions of the social interaction context (e.g., temporal persistence) that are underappreciated when focusing on face-to-face environments. For each section, we reconsider how the link between a particular element and an effect (inadvertently) uncovers a meaningful contextual factor. In this way, elements serve to identify the overlooked mechanisms and moderators that guide how psychological processes operate in daily life. For these reasons, the moving-target problem should not be viewed as a methodological issue alone; rather, the contexts that emerge, and reemerge, across platforms provide the opportunity to sharpen the contours of psychological theories.

# The Profile Element

The profile serves as the audience-facing digital portrait of each user, allowing individuals to display information about themselves in a personalized space. Common features of the profile include personal photos, written bios, background images, and past statuses that the user posted. The affordances of visibility, persistence, and audience transparency are critical for understanding self-presentational dynamics within the profile. Visibility refers to the extent to which social media "enable people to easily and effortlessly see information about someone else" (Treem & Leonardi 2013, p. 150). Visibility is typically managed via privacy settings, which are determined by the self-disclosure practices of each user and shape the "imagined audience" for each post (Litt 2012). Persistence refers to the extent to which content is viewable after posting (DeVito et al. 2017, Treem & Leonardi 2013) and has implications for the imagined audience of a particular post. "Back-stalking," for instance, is a practice in which older social media content is resurfaced, sometimes to the chagrin of the original poster (Schoenebeck et al. 2016). Finally, audience transparency refers to the extent to which the actual audience of a particular piece of social media content is apparent. Many social media platforms have low transparency, offering little to no information about who has seen a post (DeVito et al. 2017).

The profile and self-presentation. Self-presentation refers to "the process of controlling how one is perceived by other people" (Leary 1995, p. 15). In his foundational work, Goffman (1959) highlights the performative aspects of quotidian self-presentation, describing how individuals offer a customized version of the self, tailored to a specific audience at a specific time. In offline settings, individuals manage their self-presentation through spoken words as well as many other cues such as tone of voice, facial expression, and clothing (e.g., wearing a business suit to a job interview). Similarly, we engage in self-presentational practices when we create profiles, but their asynchronous nature and high editability enable selective self-presentation, giving users extra control over various cues by rewriting descriptive text or selecting one photo from among many (Walther 2011). Self-presentational performances on profiles, however, can be challenging in that content is persistent (unlike the spoken word) and thus not confined to a specific audience. Revisiting Goffman's performance metaphor, Hogan (2010) argues that self-presentations on social media should be viewed as exhibitions, where users provide artifacts but the display of them is curated by someone else. Regardless of how content is selected, profiles allow—and at times demand—careful self-presentation of the user.

Selective self-presentation can also be a slippery slope to embellishment or outright lying. Certain online contexts give users more freedom to engage in deceptive self-presentation, such as providing the option to mask identity characteristics that would otherwise be apparent. One domain in which self-presenting on profiles is particularly important is online dating, because decisions to meet offline or pursue the relationship are often made on the basis of the profile (Finkel et al. 2012). Research comparing online dating profiles to offline characteristics has found that the majority of profiles contained a discrepancy in one of three measured characteristics (age, height, and weight), though the degree of the discrepancies was quite small (Toma et al. 2008). Hence, similar to wearing a flattering outfit for a first date, profile enhancements can be seen as a way to put one's best foot forward, rather than lying (Ellison et al. 2012).

One significant factor that influences the extent to which users engage in deceptive selfpresentation is the presence of an audience of friends or contacts (Hall & Pennington 2013). As described by warranting theory (DeAndrea 2014, Walther 2011), the less control users have over a piece of information about themselves, the more that information is viewed as credible. In one test of the theory, participants gave more weight to comments from users' friends regarding their extroversion and appearance than to their self-reported profile (Walther et al. 2009). Given these reasons, users may be more truthful in SNS profiles than in online dating profiles, where the presence of a shared audience could call attention to misrepresentations. The persistent nature of many posts also acts as a deterrent to deceptive content, with research finding that people lie less in recorded media, presumably due to the digital paper trail (Hancock et al. 2004). Some online daters have even reported saving early correspondence to check against later statements (Heino et al. 2010). As a result, self-presentational concerns may be lower on ephemeral platforms like Snapchat (Bayer et al. 2016c), though temporary sharing may still leave negative impressions on others (Hofstetter et al. 2017).

In many ways, the parallels between online and offline self-presentation should not be surprising, given that online tools are used by individuals who presumably have the same goals, motivations, and habits irrespective of channel. In turn, research suggests that expressions of personality are also comparable on and off social media, echoing early findings on the accuracy of personality perceptions based on personal web pages (Vazire & Gosling 2004). For example, Facebook profiles reflect the actual, rather than the idealized, personalities of their users (Back et al. 2010). In particular, social traits such as extraversion often manifest in terms of observable cues, suggesting that certain aspects of personality will appear reliably via online profiles (Gosling et al. 2011). Other work shows that observers can detect levels of impulsivity and self-esteem from just 10 tweets (Orehek & Human 2017) and that personality can be predicted from the text records of Facebook statuses (Park et al. 2015), signaling the magnitude of personality traces on profiles.

**Key challenge: authenticity.** The balancing act of selective self-presentation underscores the challenge of accurately presenting oneself, or achieving authenticity, via social media. Bazarova & Choi (2014) showed that social validation, whereby people seek social approval and acceptance, was the most common motivation behind Facebook posts, mirroring the broader need to self-present evident on Facebook (Vogel & Rose 2016). For some users, this motivation translates into safe, socially desirable profile presentations that are bland enough for everyone in the network (Hogan 2010). Compared to emotions expressed via private channels on social media, those broadcasted widely tend to be less intense and more positive (Bazarova et al. 2015). More generally, authentic self-presentation on social media may help individuals reap emotional rewards or online support (Kim & Lee 2011, Reinecke & Trepte 2014), and some research suggests that profiles may serve a self-affirming purpose for users (Toma & Hancock 2013).

Nevertheless, authenticity does not ensure positive outcomes for all users or all types of posts. For instance, Jang et al. (2018) found that individuals with high self-esteem, but not those with low self-esteem, experienced greater happiness when engaging in more honest self-presentation. Likewise, other studies suggest that only some users—in particular, those with higher well-being already—benefit from being authentic online (Forest & Wood 2012, Reinecke & Trepte 2014). Moreover, people deliberate about whether to share difficult events or negative topics on social media due to platform norms (Buehler 2017). Yet such calibration can be very challenging, given that individuals have different ideologies toward social media (Haimson et al. 2018) and do not always gauge accurately how others may perceive their disclosures (Wang et al. 2016).

Altogether, profiles operate as a storefront for the self, requiring a careful balance between selective and authentic self-presentation. Some work finds that viewing one's own profile can function as a source of self-affirmation or higher self-esteem. Other work suggests a rich-get-richer phenomenon in which only certain forms of authenticity reap rewards, such as those expressed by people who already have high self-esteem. More broadly, profiles help to reveal how selfpresentation functions in an environment in which, contrary to face-to-face interaction, versions of the self can endure over time. In this way, profiles massively expand the potential audiences for social interactions in ways that users may lack mental models to comprehend (except when adopting features like expiration timers). The profile thus illustrates the importance of persistence, and the counterforce of ephemerality, in guiding self-presentation dynamics in daily life. More research will be needed to examine how individuals perceive, and represent, their selves over time, especially given the extent of social behavior that is now searchable. Looking forward, the persistence of social interaction contexts will continue to act as a pivotal moderator for self-presentation processes, on and beyond social media.

# The Network Element

The network—such as friends on Facebook or contacts on LinkedIn—provides the interface for engaging with the catalog of accounts (people) that users are connected to on social media. Prominent features of the network include contact lists, (un)follow preferences, and account tagging. Networks are linked to affordances such as pervasiveness (the ability to quickly and constantly communicate with a variety of ties), searchability (the ability to search for information and people), and association (Fox & McEwan 2020, Treem & Leonardi 2013). Most importantly, the association affordance allows users to create, view, and traverse ties between individuals, or between individuals and content (Treem & Leonardi 2013). In SNSs, network connections are visible to others by default (e.g., a page listing other connected accounts)—a key feature of SNSs that shaped their evolution and the social practices that unfold on these platforms (boyd & Ellison 2007). However, on other platforms these may be hidden. Two common connecting mechanisms are one-way (e.g., following on Twitter) and mutual (e.g., friending on Facebook). In either case, connecting on social media platforms typically offers the same designation (e.g., friend, follower, or contact) to a wide range of relationships, ranging from family members to next-door neighbors, leading to very different interpretations of what a "friend" represents.

The network and social mobilization. People typically connect to others they already know on social media, often using these digital connections to reflect preexisting face-to-face relationships (Hampton et al. 2011). Early work on Facebook, for example, showed that college student users were more likely to use the platform to maintain existing friendships as opposed to meeting new people (Ellison et al. 2011). Similarly, most connections on Facebook belong to categories of people known from other face-to-face contexts, such as extended family or coworkers (e.g., Hampton et al. 2011). This flattening of all contacts into one audience can challenge self-presentational strategies. In offline settings, people can target specific subsets or clusters of their social network through structural features like shared locations (e.g., church, classroom) or shared temporal situations (e.g., wedding, date). By comparison, network components allow (or force) users to broadcast messages to their complete set of social circles at once.

This ability to broadcast to personal networks has meaningful implications for social capital accrual (Ellison et al. 2014). Social capital describes the resources individuals access through their personal relationships, usually subdivided into two types: tangible or emotional support (bonding social capital, associated with strong ties) and exposure to novel worldviews or information (bridging social capital, associated with weak ties). Early research suggested that Facebook facilitated the development of social capital, especially bridging social capital (Ellison et al. 2007). Further investigations showed that people who use Facebook to look up casual acquaintances in their network (as opposed to complete strangers or close friends) report higher social capital (Ellison et al. 2011). Longitudinal research has revealed similar findings: Users with lower social fluency report higher bridging social capital over time, suggesting that Facebook behaviors can reinforce their weaker relationships (Burke et al. 2011). A recent meta-analysis further affirms these findings, with bridging social capital displaying a moderate positive relationship with general SNS use (Liu et al. 2016). More specifically, using SNSs to seek information and to maintain relationships were the two activities with the strongest associations to bridging social capital. Combined, these findings suggest that Facebook is well suited for enabling communication and relational maintenance with weaker ties.

In a similar vein, numerous studies have shown that social media use is linked to perceived social support (Liu et al. 2018, Lu & Hampton 2017) and sometimes reduced loneliness (Deters & Mehl 2013). In accordance with the findings concerning social capital, one early study found that

students with more maintained connections (e.g., high school friends) reported finding higher utility from Facebook for soliciting social support (Manago et al. 2012). More recent studies have demonstrated that such network engagement is not only associated with more support but is also linked to faster support. In one study using digital trace data from Facebook, receiving more and faster responses to Facebook updates predicted higher levels of perceived support and lower loneliness (Seo et al. 2016). Correspondingly, Lampe et al. (2014) found that broadcast Facebook messages with direct requests for help received more comments in response, and these responses arrived sooner. As bolstered by another recent meta-analysis (Liu et al. 2018), the current state of research suggests that SNS use is positively associated with emotional and informational network support.

**Key challenge: loneliness.** Although ample evidence now exists regarding the social resources garnered via network engagement on social media, people seeking support may still encounter hurdles or negative social outcomes. For instance, the flattening of diverse ties into one communicative episode can engender context collapse (Marwick & boyd 2011), making it difficult for users to craft messages that achieve diverse self-presentational and interpersonal goals. One strategy for managing this problem is posting only mundane content (Hogan 2010), but this may also limit the opportunities for support by eschewing sensitive disclosures. Indeed, there may be a reluctance to respond publicly to posts expressing negativity on social media, thus exacerbating loneliness (Forest & Wood 2012). Further supporting this idea, some research suggests that, for strong ties, people may be less willing to comment publicly on posts expressing need for social support. Alternatively, for weak ties, even if the negative posts express social support needs, individuals may be more reluctant to respond at all (Ziegele & Reinecke 2017).

Even if users reach out and receive responses, however, support signals can be of questionable social value (Burke & Kraut 2016). The ubiquitous one-click responses such as the "like" button on Facebook or the "upvote" button on Reddit represent salient examples, as these responses may originate from a variety of motivations (e.g., social obligation) independent of the post itself (Sumner et al. 2018). When people perceive "like" responses as coming from those with more "automatic" liking behavior, they perceive them as lower in social support value (Carr et al. 2016). Furthermore, requests for social resources may fail to receive the desired number of responses (Hayes et al. 2018). French & Bazarova (2017) showed that people expect variable levels of responses depending on their network characteristics. Hence, greater network diversity predicts higher expectations for responses on Twitter and Instagram (yet not Facebook), presumably due to platform norms (French & Bazarova 2017). Still other studies of network engagement have undermined the importance of number of likes or responses on perceived support and loneliness (Blight et al. 2015, Deters & Mehl 2013), further complicating the role of feedback.

In summary, networks offer new routes and signals for obtaining social resources. It is clear that people can capitalize on network-based affordances to flexibly solicit social support and social capital, though the extent to which this reinforces or reflects offline resources remains ambiguous. At the same time, certain forms of social resources—such as one-to-many self-disclosures and their one-click responses—may be too polarizing or limiting to provide lasting value. More generally, research on mobilization demonstrates how social media platforms now function as modern-day address books. Regardless of the total resources accrued, social media have revealed how network association (and navigation) is critical to the activation of social resources. As more features emerge that allow individuals to visualize and reflect on their network ties, along with their communication histories, the navigability of social interaction contexts is likely to increasingly shape the psychology of social mobilization.

# The Stream Element

The stream—e.g., the aggregated flows of content seen on the home pages of Facebook and Instagram—acts as the center display for recent news about other accounts that users are connected to on a platform. Notable features of the stream include text statuses, post reactions, post comments, and suggested content or ads. Streams have often been associated with passive use as opposed to active activities (Verduyn et al. 2015); whereas the latter involve behaviors that leave visible traces (e.g., posting and commenting), passive use is defined by browsing and viewing. This dichotomy is increasingly being challenged, however (Triệu & Ellison 2018). For instance, one-click, content-free feedback such as likes can be viewed as a middle ground between active and passive use (Carr et al. 2016). Viewing streams depends on the affordance of asynchronicity, meaning there is a lag between the time posts are made and the moment they are received by users (Fox & McEwan 2017). The streams (or feeds) seen on Facebook, Twitter, and Reddit are notable for their high degree of perceived liveness and associated ephemerality (see Bayer et al. 2016c). Finally, given their extensive and extended display of content, streams also exhibit a high level of awareness, as users gain knowledge of other people or events in their network (Lu & Hampton 2017).

The stream and social comparison. A sizable body of research points to the existence of a link between social media use and social comparison processes. Social comparison theory (Festinger 1954) has remained a mainstay in psychological research for decades, and it is especially relevant to contemporary social media research (Greenwood 2017). More specifically, social comparison theory argues that "people evaluate their opinions and abilities by comparison respectively with the opinions and abilities of others" (Festinger 1954, p. 118). Streams, for their part, provide a catalogue of snapshots from other peoples' lives, as well as the responses received from their network, that can naturally lend themselves to social comparison. As a consequence, a diverse literature has now evaluated social comparison effects on social media platforms, often clarifying its links to streams—albeit with some significant boundary conditions.

In 2012, initial evidence indicated that overall Facebook usage was associated with viewing others' lives as better than one's own life (Chou & Edge 2012). Subsequent research supported a direct connection between Facebook usage and negative comparison tendencies (Jang et al. 2016, Lee 2014), particularly among people who are less happy (de Vries & Kühne 2015). In addition, other studies have shown that these effects are especially salient for individuals who tend to compare themselves to others in general (Vogel et al. 2015, Wang et al. 2017). Combined, a wide body of research has now demonstrated that social comparison orientation acts as a pivotal moderator for comparisons (de Vries et al. 2018, Park & Baek 2018), affirming the power of individual differences in social media effects.

What drives the tendency to compare? By aggregating the shared experiences of users' personal connections and providing a one-stop shop for browsing dozens of status updates, streams serve to summarize the highlights of others' activities, thoughts, and stories. As suggested by the self-presentation scholarship highlighted above, the content that is pulled into streams often exhibits a noticeable positivity bias (Appel et al. 2016, de Vries & Kühne 2015). Streams also offer a novel space (compared to face-to-face contexts) for evaluating others' behavior, with built-in opportunities to express those evaluations directly via likes or comments. The effects of social comparison can be further intensified if the target of comparison is someone similar to oneself but whom one does not know well (Chou & Edge 2012). This is because knowing a person well can help to contextualize their positive updates along with more neutral or negative aspects of their lives (Weinstein 2017). Social media effect: a change in individual-level cognition or behavior that results from social media use As such, streams lend themselves to social comparison in a way that is similar to sitting outside in a public square, but with added features well suited for direct comparisons. Through likes, comments, and emotive reactions (e.g., Facebook's "funny" and "sad" reactions), individuals can officially declare their evaluations in ways that are quantifiable, and thus easily comparable, to both sharers and viewers. Citing this mechanism of quantifiable social influence, Sherman et al. (2016) showed that adolescents were more likely to give likes to photos when they were depicted as having many likes, as compared to those same photos with fewer likes. Participants also exhibited greater brain activity in regions associated with "reward processing, social cognition, imitation, and attention" while viewing photos with many likes (Sherman et al. 2016, p. 1027). Over time, then, these quantified reactions become an expected part of sharing, and yet another criterion to anchor social comparisons.

**Key challenge: envy.** Perhaps predictably, the upswing in attention to social comparison online has created concerns around the deleterious effects of upward comparisons. Even before social comparison was identified as a risk, studies detected a significant increase in negative affect when individuals engaged in passive interaction on social network sites (e.g., Wise et al. 2010). While early studies suggested that social comparison could act as a potential mediator for negative effects on emotional well-being, follow-up experiments confirmed a negative link between positive affect and passive use—an effect mediated by envy (Verduyn et al. 2017). Altogether, an impressive number of studies have identified envy as an outcome of Facebook use (Appel et al. 2016), with rising interest in Instagram and other platforms (e.g., Stapleton et al. 2017). Interestingly, envy seems to be driven more by experiences than material purchases (Lin et al. 2018). In other words, people feel more envy when seeing others post about going on vacation than about buying new things. After establishing a link between streams and comparisons, research has turned to evaluating how these processes play out in various domains, such as body image (Fardouly & Vartanian 2016) and parenting (Coyne et al. 2017).

In some situations, however, the generation of envy can have positive outcomes. Park & Baek (2018) found that either negative or positive comparisons could emerge, based on the social comparison orientation and the emotions triggered. Indeed, newer work has called attention to potential positive effects of comparison through benign envy, such as acting as a source of inspiration (Meier & Schäfer 2018). Finally, some work has noted the strong boundary conditions of negative effects due to comparisons. For example, Johnson & Knobloch-Westerwick (2014) found reduced negative effects of social comparison when participants were put into a negative mood first. Other research suggests that individuals feel more positive emotions in total when browsing Facebook (Lin & Utz 2015), and that social comparison effects may be specific to relative (versus overall) happiness (Chae 2018).

Together, streams can spotlight a seemingly endless catalog of exclusively positive moments from friends' lives, magnifying social comparison tendencies. While research describes how streams operate as a common space for social comparison, the broader implications remain debated (Faranda & Roberts 2019), including the extent to which social media comparisons are in fact different from offline behavior. Research to date has underlined the potential of social media comparisons to precipitate envy and negative affect, yet newer studies question whether all comparison tendencies are inherently negative. In addition to fueling envy, updates can also provide aspirational role models and greater awareness of significant activities in friends' lives, such as adverse events that necessitate empathy and community help. These types of intimate updates, once shared among close ties in private settings, can immediately reach more people. Streams show how the level of awareness of others' lives is interwoven with social comparison tendencies in daily life. With the rising curation of social environments and the widening set of feeds appearing by default in online platforms (e.g., music streaming, location sharing, etc.), the extent of awareness in social interaction contexts will play a pronounced role in the quantity and quality of future comparisons.

# The Message Element

The message was not always viewed as an element of social media, though it often existed in the background of classic SNSs (e.g., Facebook inbox, chat) and other communication technologies (e.g., SMS, texting). Messages have also been referred to as chat, texting, direct/instant/mobile messaging, and mobile email across different studies and periods. Moreover, stand-alone text messaging is sometimes treated separately from social media (Carr & Haves 2015), perhaps due to its lack of broadcasting features. However, this emphasis on masspersonal features can overshadow the ways in which the message syncs to and supports other elements. The message may not distinguish social media from other forms of social interaction on its own, but it reinforces overall usage and supports tasks that require more privacy than is afforded by broadcasting. Modern messaging is linked to the affordances of privacy, portability, and asynchronicity (Fox & McEwan 2017; cf. Schrock 2015) and is associated with features such as message histories, typing cues, and read receipts. Given the growing inseparability of messaging and social media platforms (Mai et al. 2015), here we integrate the threads of messaging research to acknowledge its grounding as a social media element. The contemporary significance of messaging for social media is reflected in the rapid growth of mobile-first platforms, such as WhatsApp, WeChat, and Snapchat, as well as companion apps to SNSs such as Facebook Messenger. Therefore, we treat messages as focused interactions between two or more users using text and/or other media content, regardless of the platform or phone in hand.

The message and social connectedness. Social connectedness through social media can be viewed as an outgrowth of the human needs for belongingness and relatedness to others (Baumeister & Leary 1995, Grieve et al. 2013, Ryan & Deci 2000, Sheldon et al. 2011). These fundamental social needs help to explain why people use social platforms, just as they offer insight into why people pursue face-to-face interactions. Still, such perspectives do not clarify how individuals negotiate when and where to communicate if other people are always available to contact online (Reinecke et al. 2018, Triệu et al. 2019). The key difference, then, is in the permanence of possible social interaction afforded by online technologies, including social media platforms (Bayer et al. 2016a, Vorderer & Kohring 2013). As such, research tied to messaging has often adopted the nomenclature of "permanently online, permanently connected" (POPC) to describe the constant connectedness and associated psychological implications (Vorderer et al. 2018).

To be clear, an individual's complete level of online connectedness, whether oriented toward online, offline, or mixed online/offline relationships, is determined by an array of communication technologies. Thus, many forms of networked communication (e.g., call, email, etc.) contribute to perceived social connectedness, albeit with substantial individual and cultural differences at play (Triệu et al. 2019). Moreover, some research suggests that online connectedness is perceived as separate from face-to-face connectedness (Grieve et al. 2013), and that Facebook users can feel connected and disconnected simultaneously (Sheldon et al. 2011), complicating the meaning of staying connected. That is, there are potentially many distinct thoughts of connectedness, relatedness, and belongingness toward other individuals happening at once. As Levy et al. (2001, p. 253) once noted, "People can simultaneously experience social acceptance or rejection in one or more kinds of relationships." Social media thereby engender a number of new dimensions to feelings of connection and/or disconnection, all being experienced more or less concurrently.

Despite the many shades of connecting to others, research supports the centrality of messaging in shaping daily perceptions of connectedness (Kuru et al. 2017, Vorderer et al. 2016). Significantly, the ability to address a specific individual via a personal mobile phone number or a unique username provides the most fundamental driver of enhanced connectedness (Ling 2017). The always-on access of mobile messaging, as opposed to a Facebook or LinkedIn account, means that the potential for new social interaction is always there, leading to the development of social norms to be "on call." These connection expectations allow individuals to reach out to their network the moment that something stressful occurs (Holtzman et al. 2017), with one study suggesting that simply having a mobile device buffers the effect of being excluded (Hunter et al. 2018). Conversely, the lack of a message response can threaten belongingness (Smith 2004), and research confirms that social media ostracism is just as impactful as face-to-face exclusion (Schneider et al. 2017).

Consequently, it is the potential to connect, perhaps more than the raw amount of social behavior, that underlies the psychological effects of messaging. Yet research suggests this focus on incoming messages is driven by a relatively small number of close ties (Ling et al. 2014). The online availability of close ties provides myriad opportunities for chatting in spare moments, with studies showing that self-disclosure through messaging can reinforce friendships and relational closeness (Carpenter et al. 2018, Valkenburg & Peter 2009). At the same time, constant opportunities to connect require constant negotiation, and more recent research has turned to investigating individual differences in how people attend to potential messages (Reinecke et al. 2018). The rising concern for connection preferences reflects the growth of unavailability signals such as message read receipts (Mai et al. 2015), adding even more dimensions to how connected individuals look and feel.

Key challenge: distraction. The development of permanent connectedness produces a quandary from a social needs standpoint. Social needs can now be satisfied at any moment, yet such capabilities can also facilitate social stressors that undermine need satisfaction (Ling 2017, Sheldon et al. 2011, Vorderer et al. 2016). In response to this issue, a number of studies have examined whether general Facebook use is associated with feelings of overconnection, disconnection, or overload (e.g., Chen & Lee 2013). LaRose et al. (2014) found that uncontrollable habits—rather than connection habits as a whole—were predictive of stress and "connection overload." In extreme cases, enhanced connectedness may serve to exaggerate anxiety or problematic tendencies (Cheever et al. 2014), with some work suggesting that a small portion of users exhibit signs of behavioral addiction (see Bayer & LaRose 2018 for a review). By contrast, Sheldon et al. (2011) provided evidence that people who felt disconnected went to Facebook as a remedy and felt more connected as a result; however, people did not feel less disconnected after using the platform. Such findings reaffirm the idea that connectedness can be decomposed into different subparts of perception; in other words, people can feel connected and disconnected to different things in parallel.

Aside from feelings of overload and (dis)connection, messaging can interfere with other activities, for example, by undermining face-to-face conversations (Vanden Abeele et al. 2016), causing motor accidents (Bayer & Campbell 2012), or prompting users to procrastinate with regard to other goals (Schnauber-Stockmann et al. 2018). Amplified connectedness may also have unintended displacement effects, such as displacing potential social connection from nearby individuals when in public (Kushlev et al. 2017). As a whole, the displacement effects of social media remain contested (Hall et al. 2019), but they underline the ways in which messaging is now interwoven into offline contexts, as individuals weave in and out of immersive states automatically (Bayer et al. 2016b, Kuru et al. 2017). Well before the ascent of Facebook, Gergen (2002) coined the term "absent presence" to describe the parallel state of being physically here while mentally online, and messages continue to represent a prominent component of this sort of always-on absorption. Overall, messaging is now cemented into our communication infrastructure. Ubiquitous online access to messaging means that people now have the possibility to connect directly with almost any individual in their social environment. This amazing level of connectivity entails both rewards (e.g., support of online others) and drawbacks (e.g., pressure of staying responsive). More research is needed to understand how different people balance this trade-off, and under which conditions the negative effects outweigh the positive ones. More generally, messaging has revealed the strength of availability in shaping how people feel connected or disconnected (or both) in daily social interaction contexts. Given the gradual growth of features such as online statuses, message reactions, and average response times, satisfying the need to belong in the future will require complex management of (un)availability signals.

# **MEASURING SOCIAL MEDIA**

Social media researchers share a common challenge: studying an evolving set of tools, platforms, and practices that change quickly and dramatically, typically with little advance notice. This moving-target problem has clear implications for the investigation and replication of social media effects. In particular, these measurement issues echo concerns brought to the surface by the replication crisis, including the importance of contextual sensitivity (Pettigrew 2018, Van Bavel et al. 2016), as well as long-standing concerns around the historical durability of social psychological effects given their susceptibility to changes in culture (Gergen 1973). Although the (in)famous contention that social psychology could be viewed as history resulted in sharp debates in past decades (e.g., Blank 1988, Wallach et al. 1994), this conflict has largely subsided in recent years (Jost & Kruglanski 2002). Indeed, prominent frameworks now view culture as a constant force acting upon cognition (e.g., Oyserman 2015), and large-scale evidence has been amassed showing that social cognition moves with culture (e.g., implicit attitudes) (Charlesworth & Banaji 2019). Moreover, the notion that social psychological effects are subject to historical context factors is also less contentious—and more significant—when directed at the domain of technology (Greenfield 2017). In the sections below, we discuss ongoing measurement obstacles in the social media landscape, along with the unique opportunities these spaces offer for the coming years.

# **Historical Durability**

Whereas many social psychological processes can be influenced by aspects of the historical moment, those tied to technology do so by definition. The famous Google effect (Sparrow et al. 2011)—the idea that individuals think of the Internet when facing hard questions and thus remember where to look (rather than the knowledge itself)—provides a cogent example of such contextual sensitivity. Specifically, Sparrow (2018) has argued that changes in historical context alter the meaning of Internet-based stimuli (e.g., words such as Yahoo and Altavista), undermining the ability to replicate the original effect with the same stimuli (Camerer et al. 2018). Social media platforms, for their part, are thus strongly susceptible to these changes, as suggested by past reviews of social media effects (Fox & McEwan 2020, Valkenburg et al. 2016) and Internet psychology (Gosling & Mason 2015).

This historical complication is especially salient when researchers attempt to measure social media contexts (cf. McFarland & Ployhart 2015). Indeed, social media platforms likely represent a varied mixture of virtual environments (e.g., the profile interface page) and mental frames (e.g., imagining which friends will see profile changes) that operate as momentary contexts. As a result, defining the contexts associated with online technology behavior remains difficult when specifying psychological mechanisms (Bayer & LaRose 2018). Previous research has commonly attended to

core elements such as those reviewed above (profiles, networks, streams, messages). To provide a durable foundation for establishing effects, these elements should characterize an online context (or set of contexts) that can be replicated over time, at least when clearly defined and measured. Despite the utility of conducting research around these and other potential elements, a number of obstacles threaten their contextual stability over time. Specifically, frequent alterations to the features of a given platform can modulate the affordances and practices of the associated contexts. Likewise, expected gratifications from use are likely to sensitize (or desensitize) perceptions of features and affordances over time.

Furthermore, social media norms can shift over time, with the potential to render prior psychological effects null as users adjust their behavior accordingly. For instance, the positivity bias norm regarding social media content may decrease if secondary profiles or "finstas" (fake Instagram profiles that display less curated content than real ones) become more common, lowering the frequency of upward social comparisons. Indeed, Gergen's (1973) original article on historical durability specifically noted that social comparison is a process that is foreseeably wed to culture. Alternatively, norms may shift as the population of users changes over time, particularly given the overrepresentation of highly active users on many platforms (Park & Macy 2015). Similar to the classic physical contexts that characterize human social life (coffee shops, city squares, etc.), social media contexts are subject to numerous changes, though potentially at a faster rate due to their regular technical updates and irregular user bases.

As a whole, social media research encounters a complex constellation of moving parts that can inhibit context durability. In doing so, however, this area of research helps to uncover the contextual borders of social interaction at large, contributing to the revitalization of context in psychology (Pettigrew 2018, Tamir & Hughes 2018). As discussed above, social media have served to highlight the special significance of persistence (via profiles), navigability (via networks), awareness (via streams), and availability (via messages) for how social psychological processes function across online and offline spaces. These dimensions, along with the affordances and features composing the elements, will continue to define the social interaction contexts of the future. Social media research thereby assists in clarifying the contours of social psychological mechanisms, turning the moving target into a helping hand.

# **Researcher Control**

On many platforms, empirical social media research is complicated by the fact that each user has a unique experience with every login, making it difficult to design studies that maintain internal and external validity. Numerous factors influence the user experience of a given individual, including dynamic algorithms, network composition, and personal settings. These factors can act as third variables in correlational research and sometimes interact with experimental manipulations in inexplicable ways. For example, in contrast to earlier iterations in which social media streams displayed content to users in predictable ways (e.g., reverse chronological order), contemporary platforms often use algorithmic logic to determine user feeds at each moment. Factors influencing streams include the composition of one's network, targeted commercial content, the actions of other users who have previously seen the post, and dozens of other variables, many of which are in a state of constant and dynamic flux. Unsurprisingly, the specific conditions of these corporate algorithms are obscure.

This variability can make studying specific elements of social media particularly challenging. For example, researchers examining the effect of profile posting also need to monitor and account for the responses (e.g., comments, likes, shares) participants receive on the posting (Deters & Mehl 2013). In many cases, attempting to manipulate or control what a participant experiences when

they log in is simply impossible. Adding to the complexity, users may struggle to accurately report their technology use; for instance, Junco (2013) found that users were not able to accurately report Facebook time on site, which makes it unlikely that users can accurately report more nuanced activities. Moreover, accurately capturing the kinds of experiences that individuals have in these hyper-interactive and hyper-personalized media venues can be challenging. To cite one example taken from above, the effects of browsing different streams may lead to different emotional outcomes due to mechanisms like social comparison. However, this can also be a recursive process: Users may develop different expectations based on past experience, which then shape how they are motivated to use the platform. All of these obstacles combine to undermine validity.

Researchers who need participants to view tightly controlled content have a few options, all with limitations. One option is fabricating fake content to present to users, as done by Walther and colleagues (2009). Though promising, such approaches sacrifice ecological validity and often do not enable researchers to test the effects of how users respond to content from their actual network connections. Another approach is designing studies in ways that merge the benefits of logged data and traditional psychological methods (e.g., surveys, experience sampling, implicit measures), which of course introduces added technical hurdles and limitations (e.g., Bayer et al. 2018). A final alternative is creating mock interfaces or social network sites (Difranzo et al. 2018), generating a universe of fake accounts that interact with one another and then placing participants into these systems as users. By comparison, researchers that are affiliated with or work for social media platforms have more control over user experience and access to granular server-level usage data, but these interventions and data sets come with their own methodological limitations.

Aside from these practical challenges, researcher control can also engender ethical dilemmas that are germane to psychological work. Studies collecting social media traces must consider risks to participant privacy in ways that diverge from traditional social science research. Further, many psychologists embedded in tech companies now have the ability to manipulate the daily experiences of users and access highly sensitive user data (Bond et al. 2012). Hence, their involvement in research has inspired heated discussions on the ethics of research in social media environments. Most (in)famously, Facebook researchers manipulated the streams of approximately 600,000 users to show either more positive or negative posts in order to assess the influence of the emotional valence of the stream on the valence of users' posts (Kramer et al. 2014). Though similar experimental adjustments (known as A/B testing) take place across industry research, the lack of explicit informed consent and/or participant debriefing and the lack of awareness around how algorithms work (along with extensive press coverage) resulted in a large-scale controversy.

# Elements

In spite of the dynamism of social media, the existing research tied to profiles, networks, streams, and messages displays some persistent patterns. The past focus on the well-known elements of SNSs, therefore, likely reflects the utility of outlining the common online spaces that comprise social media. Similar to affordances, elements help to provide contextual scaffolding for measuring social media effects over time. Undoubtedly, social media will continue to iterate in ways that prevent the compilation of a static set of online spaces. Yet by defining the central spaces of the social media ecosystem, along with the contextual boundaries of those elements, future research will be better able to replicate effects over periods and channels. In parallel, emerging research can extrapolate the findings from one platform to other platforms, while maintaining higher ecological validity than the affordances perspective alone. This type of extrapolation already happens in some arenas; for example, early research on how users experienced self-presentational pressures when creating online dating profiles (e.g., Ellison et al. 2006) contains insights that are applied to explorations of Tinder profiles or LinkedIn profiles in the contemporary ecosystem.

Social media ecology: a unique set of interaction tools used to meet personal communication goals, including social platforms, face-to-face exchanges, and other channels In other cases, social media elements may change in ways that make past psychological findings obsolete. Consequently, future research may benefit from identifying inventories of elements as well as criteria for inclusion and exclusion of elements across time. A given social platform can be defined by the constellation of elements that characterize it, and subclasses of social media (e.g., SNSs) can be distinguished through their unique set of elements (e.g., profiles, networks, streams). For instance, the ability to form a group chat, and thus interact in a group message context, could be viewed as an element due to its role in Facebook, Snapchat, or WhatsApp, even if Twitter does not support group chats at this time. Likewise, even when a platform is decommissioned (e.g., AIM), findings linked to its elements can be compared to future channels (e.g., WhatsApp) that share characteristics within the same element. When clearly defined, elements can provide more concrete methods for contrasting mediums with one another, and support empirical opportunities such as meta-analyses. In this way, researchers can investigate how social media elements emerge and evolve, chronicling the definitive social interaction contexts (and their effects) that wax and wane over time.

Altogether, in line with affordances approaches, elements mitigate the constant need to define social media across eras of human communication. Ultimately, some degree of integration is necessary if research on social media aims to identify replicable social psychological effects. The four elements underlined in this review are only a portion of the common components distributed across the social media landscape today. Elements offer one way of organizing the complex assortment of channels and platforms into replicable units, yet they also come with limitations, including their dependence on the wider social media ecosystem.

# **Ecologies and Effects**

Thus far, we have treated social media channels as discrete environments that may or may not share particular features, affordances, and elements. Social media, however, do not exist in a vacuum. Rather, the collection of possible channels now represents a diverse ecosystem with an elaborate landscape of social roads and roundabouts within and between platforms. Each platform can be used in combination with other channels as well as other social media platforms (Boczkowski et al. 2018). Within this total ecosystem, each user selects a set of tools that are employed together to meet their communicative goals—i.e., to create a customized social media ecology. Given the simultaneous and synchronized use of numerous channels today, the implications of social media behavior are best understood when accounting for the personalized ecologies of users (Zhao et al. 2016).

Emergent research suggests that the distinct set of social tools will vary considerably as a function of the specific user. Hence, more work is needed to examine individual differences in how users conceptualize social platforms as well as their underlying components across channels. For example, understanding how individuals explicitly or implicitly compare platforms may help to clarify how users navigate their social media ecologies (Boczkowski et al. 2018, Tandoc et al. 2019, Triệu & Ellison 2018). Prior research also suggests that the effects of social media depend on how people approach online contexts. For instance, recent studies have examined how folk theories (DeVito et al. 2018) and individual expectations (Clark & Green 2018) guide the ways in which users approach social media and perceive online communication. More empirical research is thus needed to map the mental models of ecologies, investigating what elements help to define and distinguish the platforms from one another. Along the way, research can test whether individual differences in ecology perceptions shape the processes and outcomes of social media use.

At the same time, the surge of customized ecologies creates new obstacles to testing social media effects. First, media ecologies result in measurement challenges as discrete channels are confounded with one another in colloquial language and personal schemas. Does "Facebook" refer to separate parts of the perceived ecology (e.g., newsfeed, messages) or to the entire platform? Second, the complexity of the social media ecology and the interweaving of online interaction into everyday life generates an increasing range of contexts to compare against one another to test an effect. Perhaps unsurprisingly, the most established way to conceptualize a social media effect is to compare it to another interaction channel. In early CMC studies, the anchoring point was generally assumed to be face-to-face contexts (Kiesler et al. 1984, Walther 2011). However, Valkenburg et al. (2016, p. 329) note in relation the changing landscape that "these developments have made it more difficult, and sometimes less relevant, to compare specific CMC applications with each other or with face-to-face communication."

The diversifying ecosystem raises fundamental questions around how to define social media effects in the future. Although the default tendency to compare the psychological effects of social media to offline contexts is valuable (e.g., Faranda & Roberts 2019, Orben & Dunbar 2017), comparison choices are becoming less clear as online contexts from Facebook to Tinder intermingle with face-to-face (and with one another). Indeed, each channel—or element—that is added to a media ecosystem creates more potential contexts, and thus analytical comparisons, for finding a significant effect. The current social media literature already includes idiosyncratic combinations of measured channels across studies, inhibiting the ability to aggregate findings and perform meta-analyses about psychological mechanisms. As with the need to define the contexts themselves, the growth of ecologies necessitates more precise justification and discussion of the contexts selected as theoretical comparison points.

Going beyond best practices for social media research methods, the definition of comparison points can also shape the societal implications of their effects. As in other areas of social science research (e.g., behavioral interventions) (Wang et al. 2018), there is a range of possible comparisons one could specify as the control. For instance, studies can compare the effect of social media use to other leisure activities (e.g., jogging), media hobbies (e.g., virtual reality), or diet behaviors to justify their significance (Orben & Przybylski 2019). In doing so, policy makers can arrive at different conclusions about the social psychological effects of social media, depending on the chosen reference point. None of the above comparisons are inherently wrong—i.e., we need to examine social media effects against something—but they nonetheless have the potential to reveal different narratives about technology over time that may (or may not) warrant societal alarm in the present (Orben & Przybylski 2019).

# **REMEMBERING SOCIAL MEDIA**

This review has described some of the pivotal social psychological effects of social media, while also reflecting on the challenge of defining them. The moving-target problem will continue to complicate researchers' (and users') attempts to organize the organic evolution of social interaction into clean categories. At the same time, the culturally driven effects that are displayed on social media help to articulate the role of context for a growing set of psychological effects. Social media have served to diversify, or at least spotlight, the variability in contexts that humans inhabit in everyday life. Moreover, the rapid pace of changes is forcing researchers to reconsider the historical nature of psychological effects. The apparent obstacles, therefore, are in fact fast-tracking research to more replicable approaches. From challenging the definition of contexts to revealing the hidden moderators of social interaction, social media research will likely become more central to psychology with each new update (Kross 2017).

Fifty years from now, the tweet may be akin to the telegram: an odd anecdote or appropriation of a bygone behavior, as seen today in the popular message app Telegram. Few researchers would be naïve enough to predict what technologies await us next. Even fewer researchers would predict the longevity of findings around a platform as ephemeral as Snapchat. Given this scientific transience, the contribution of social media research to social psychology can appear fleeting. We disagree. Despite the unique trials that come with social media platforms, we are optimistic about their potential to reveal novel insights into psychological mechanisms. By attending to the elements that ground the social media ecosystem, the effects of today will be better positioned to anchor those of tomorrow.

# DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

J.B.B. and N.B.E. have received research funding from Facebook and WhatsApp (owned by Facebook, Inc.). N.B.E. has collaborated with Facebook researchers on peer-reviewed research publications. The authors are not aware of any other affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Sonya Dal Cin, Jesse Fox, Rob Smith, David Lee, Neil Lewis, Hakeem Jefferson, and Emily Falk for their feedback while developing earlier drafts. The views expressed are those of the authors.

# LITERATURE CITED

- Anderson B, Fagan P, Woodnutt T, Chamorro-Premuzic T. 2012. Facebook psychology: popular questions answered by research. *Psychol. Pop. Media Cult.* 1(1):23–37
- Appel H, Gerlach AL, Crusius J. 2016. The interplay between Facebook use, social comparison, envy, and depression. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 9:44–49
- Back MD, Stopfer JM, Vazire S, Gaddis S, Schmukle SC, et al. 2010. Facebook profiles reflect actual personality, not self-idealization. *Psychol. Sci.* 21(3):372–74
- Baumeister R, Leary M. 1995. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117:497–529
- Bayer JB, Campbell SW. 2012. Texting while driving on automatic: considering the frequency-independent side of habit. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 28(6):2083–90
- Bayer JB, Campbell SW, Ling R. 2016a. Connection cues: activating the norms and habits of social connectedness. *Commun. Theory* 26:128–49
- Bayer JB, Dal Cin S, Campbell SW, Panek E. 2016b. Consciousness and self-regulation in mobile communication. *Hum. Commun. Res.* 42:71–97
- Bayer JB, Ellison NB, Schoenebeck S, Brady E, Falk EB. 2018. Facebook in context(s): measuring emotional responses across time and space. *New Media Soc.* 20(3):1047–67
- Bayer JB, Ellison NB, Schoenebeck S, Falk E. 2016c. Sharing the small moments: ephemeral social interaction on Snapchat. Inf. Commun. Soc. 19:956–77
- Bayer JB, LaRose R. 2018. Technology habits: progress, problems, and prospects. In *The Psychology of Habit: Theory, Mechanisms, Change, and Contexts*, ed. B Verplanken, pp. 111–30. Cham, Switz.: Springer Baym NK. 2015. *Personal Connections in the Digital Age*. New York: Wiley
- Bazarova NN, Choi YH. 2014. Self-disclosure in social media: extending the functional approach to disclosure motivations and characteristics on social network sites. *7. Commun.* 64(4):635–57
- Bazarova NN, Choi YH, Sosik VS, Cosley D, Whitlock J. 2015. Social sharing of emotions on Facebook. In Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, pp. 154–64. New York: ACM
- Błachnio A, Przepiórka A, Rudnicka P. 2013. Psychological determinants of using Facebook: a research review. Int. 7. Hum.-Comput. Interact. 29(11):775–87

- Blank T. 1988. Reflections on Gergen's "Social Psychology as History" in perspective. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 14:651–63
- Blight MG, Jagiello K, Ruppel EK. 2015. "Same stuff different day": a mixed-method study of support seeking on Facebook. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 53:366–73
- Boczkowski PJ, Matassi M, Mitchelstein E. 2018. How young users deal with multiple platforms: the role of meaning-making in social media repertoires. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 23(5):245–59
- Bond RM, Fariss CJ, Jones JJ, Kramer ADI, Marlow C, et al. 2012. A 61-million-person experiment in social influence and political mobilization. *Nature* 489(7415):295–98
- boyd DM, Ellison NB. 2007. Social network sites: definition, history, and scholarship. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 13(1):210-30
- Buehler EM. 2017. "You shouldn't use Facebook for that": navigating norm violations while seeking emotional support on Facebook. Soc. Media Soc. 3(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305117733225
- Burke M, Kraut RE. 2016. The relationship between Facebook use and well-being depends on communication type and tie strength. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 21(4):265–81
- Burke M, Kraut R, Marlow C. 2011. Social capital on Facebook: differentiating uses and users. In Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 571–80. New York: ACM
- Caers R, De Feyter T, De Couck M, Stough T, Vigna C, Du Bois C. 2013. Facebook: a literature review. *New Media Soc.* 15(6):982–1002
- Camerer CF, Dreber A, Holzmeister F, Ho T-H, Huber J, et al. 2018. Evaluating the replicability of social science experiments in *Nature* and *Science* between 2010 and 2015. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 2(9):637–44
- Carpenter J, Green M, Laflam J. 2018. Just between us: exclusive communications in online social networks. J. Soc. Psychol. 158(4):405–20
- Carr CT, Hayes RA. 2015. Social media: defining, developing, and divining. Atl. J. Commun. 23:46-65
- Carr CT, Wohn DY, Hayes RA. 2016. As social support: relational closeness, automaticity, and interpreting social support from paralinguistic digital affordances in social media. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 62:385– 93
- Chae J. 2018. Reexamining the relationship between social media and happiness: the effects of various social media platforms on reconceptualized happiness. *Telemat. Inform.* 35(6):1656–64
- Charlesworth TES, Banaji MR. 2019. Patterns of implicit and explicit attitudes: I. Long-term change and stability from 2007 to 2016. *Psychol. Sci.* 30(2):174–92
- Cheever NA, Rosen LD, Carrier LM, Chavez A. 2014. Out of sight is not out of mind: the impact of restricting wireless mobile device use on anxiety levels among low, moderate and high users. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 37:290–97
- Chen W, Lee K-H. 2013. Sharing, liking, commenting, and distressed? The pathway between Facebook interaction and psychological distress. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 16(10):728–34
- Chou H-TG, Edge N. 2012. "They are happier and having better lives than I am": the impact of using Facebook on perceptions of others' lives. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 15(2):117–21
- Clark JL, Algoe SB, Green MC. 2018. Social network sites and well-being: the role of social connection. *Curr:* Dir. Psychol. Sci. 27(1):32–37
- Clark JL, Green MC. 2018. Self-fulfilling prophecies: Perceived reality of online interaction drives expected outcomes of online communication. *Pers. Individ. Differ*: 133:73–76
- Coyne SM, McDaniel BT, Stockdale LA. 2017. "Do you dare to compare?" Associations between maternal social comparisons on social networking sites and parenting, mental health, and romantic relationship outcomes. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 70:335–40
- de Vries DA, Kühne R. 2015. Facebook and self-perception: individual susceptibility to negative social comparison on Facebook. Pers. Individ. Differ. 86:217–21
- de Vries DA, Moller AM, Wieringa MS, Eigenraam AW, A HK. 2018. Social comparison as the thief of joy: emotional consequences of viewing strangers' Instagram posts. *Media Psychol.* 21(2):222–45

DeAndrea DC. 2014. Advancing warranting theory. Commun. Theory 24(2):186-204

Deters FG, Mehl MR. 2013. Does posting Facebook status updates increase or decrease loneliness? An online social networking experiment. Soc. Psychol. Pers. Sci. 4(5):579–86

- DeVito MA, Birnholtz J, Hancock JT. 2017. Platforms, people, and perception: using affordances to understand self-presentation on social media. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing*, pp. 740–54. New York: ACM
- DeVito MA, Birnholtz J, Hancock JT, French M, Liu S. 2018. How people form folk theories of social media feeds and what it means for how we study self-presentation. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Pap. No. 120. New York: ACM
- Difranzo D, Taylor SH, Kazerooni F, Wherry O, Bazarova NN. 2018. Upstanding by design: bystander intervention in cyberbullying. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Pap. No. 211. New York: ACM
- Ellison NB, boyd D. 2013. Sociality through social network sites. In *The Oxford Handbook of Internet Studies*, ed. WH Dutton, pp. 151–72. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Ellison NB, Gray R, Lampe C, Fiore AT. 2014. Social capital and resource requests on Facebook. *New Media* Soc. 16(7):1104–21
- Ellison NB, Hancock JT, Toma CL. 2012. Profile as promise: a framework for conceptualizing veracity in online dating self-presentations. *New Media Soc.* 14(1):45–62
- Ellison NB, Heino R, Gibbs J. 2006. Managing impressions online: self-presentation processes in the online dating environment. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 11(2):415–41
- Ellison NB, Steinfield C, Lampe C. 2007. The benefits of Facebook "friends:" social capital and college students' use of online social network sites. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 12:1143–68
- Ellison NB, Steinfield C, Lampe C. 2011. Connection strategies: social capital implications of Facebookenabled communication practices. *New Media Soc.* 13(6):873–92
- Ellison NB, Vitak J. 2015. Social network site affordances and their relationship to social capital processes. In *The Handbook of the Psychology of Communication Technology*, ed. SS Sundar, pp. 203–27. New York: Wiley
- Evans SK, Pearce KE, Vitak J, Treem JW. 2016. Explicating affordances: a conceptual framework for understanding affordances in communication research. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 22:35–52
- Faranda M, Roberts LD. 2019. Social comparisons on Facebook and offline: the relationship to depressive symptoms. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 141:13–17
- Fardouly J, Vartanian LR. 2016. Social media and body image concerns: current research and future directions. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 9:1–5
- Festinger L. 1954. A theory of social comparison processes. Hum. Relat. 7:117-40
- Finkel E, Eastwick PW, Karney BR, Reis HT, Sprecher S. 2012. Online dating: a critical analysis from the perspective of psychological science. *Psychol. Sci. Public Interest* 13(1):3–66
- Forest AL, Wood JV. 2012. When social networking is not working: Individuals with low self-esteem recognize but do not reap the benefits of self-disclosure on Facebook. *Psychol. Sci.* 23(3):295–302
- Fox J, McEwan B. 2017. Distinguishing technologies for social interaction: the Perceived Social Affordances of Communication Channels Scale. *Commun. Monogr.* 84(3):298–318
- Fox J, McEwan B. 2020. Social media. In Media Effects: Advances in Theory and Research, ed. MB Oliver, A Raney, J Bryant, pp. 373–88. New York: Routledge. 4th ed.
- French M, Bazarova NN. 2017. Is anybody out there? Understanding masspersonal communication through expectations for response across social media platforms. J. Comput.-Mediat. Commun. 22(6):303–19
- Gergen KJ. 1973. Social psychology as history. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 26(2):309-20
- Gergen KJ. 2002. The challenge of absent presence. In *Perpetual Contact: Mobile Communication, Private Talk, Public Performance*, ed. JE Katz, M Aakhus, pp. 227–41. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Goffman E. 1959. The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life. Harmondsworth, UK: Penguin
- Gosling SD, Augustine AA, Vazire S, Holtzman N, Gaddis S. 2011. Manifestations of personality in online social networks: self-reported Facebook-related behaviors and observable profile information. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 14(9):483–88
- Gosling SD, Mason W. 2015. Internet research in psychology. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 66(1):877-902
- Greenfield PM. 2017. Cultural change over time: why replicability should not be the gold standard in psychological science. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 12(5):762–71
- Greenwood D. 2017. Social comparison theory. In *The International Encyclopedia of Media Effects*, ed. P Rössler, CA Hoffner, L van Zoonen, pp. 1–7. New York: Wiley

- Grieve R, Indian M, Witteveen K, Tolan GA, Marrington J. 2013. Face-to-face or Facebook: Can social connectedness be derived online? *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29(3):604–9
- Guadagno RE, Jones NM, Kimbrough AM, Mattu A. 2016. Translating social media psychological research. Transl. Issues Psychol. Sci. 2(3):213–15
- Haimson OL, Andalibi N, De Choudhury M, Hayes GR. 2018. Relationship breakup disclosures and media ideologies on Facebook. New Media Soc. 20(5):1931–52
- Hall JA, Johnson RM, Ross EM. 2019. Where does the time go? An experimental test of what social media displaces and displaced activities' associations with affective well-being and quality of day. New Media Soc. 21(3):674–92
- Hall JA, Pennington N. 2013. Self-monitoring, honesty, and cue use on Facebook: the relationship with user extraversion and conscientiousness. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29(4):1556–64
- Hampton KN, Goulet LS, Rainie L, Purcell K. 2011. Social networking sites and our lives. Rep., Pew Res. Cent., Washington, DC. https://www.pewinternet.org/2011/06/16/social-networking-sites-andour-lives/
- Hancock JT, Thom-Santelli J, Ritchie T. 2004. Deception and design: the impact of communication technologies on lying behavior. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 129–34. New York: ACM
- Hayes RA, Wesselmann ED, Carr CT. 2018. When nobody "likes" you: perceived ostracism through paralinguistic digital affordances within social media. Soc. Media Soc. 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2056305118800309
- Heino RD, Ellison NB, Gibbs JL. 2010. Relationshopping: investigating the market metaphor in online dating. J. Soc. Pers. Relatsh. 27(4):427–47
- Hofstetter R, Rüppell R, John LK. 2017. Temporary sharing prompts unrestrained disclosures that leave lasting negative impressions. PNAS 114(45):11902–7
- Hogan B. 2010. The presentation of self in the age of social media: distinguishing performances and exhibitions online. *Bull. Sci. Technol. Soc.* 30(6):377–86
- Holtzman S, DeClerck D, Turcotte K, Lisi D, Woodworth M. 2017. Emotional support during times of stress: Can text messaging compete with in-person interactions? *Comput. Hum. Bebav.* 71:130–39
- Hunter JF, Hooker ED, Rohleder N, Pressman SD. 2018. The use of smartphones as a digital security blanket: the influence of phone use and availability on psychological and physiological responses to social exclusion. *Psychosom. Med.* 80(4):345–52
- Jang K, Park N, Song H. 2016. Social comparison on Facebook: its antecedents and psychological outcomes. Comput. Hum. Behav. 62:147–54
- Jang W, Bucy EP, Cho J. 2018. Self-esteem moderates the influence of self-presentation style on Facebook users' sense of subjective well-being. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 85:190–99
- Johnson BK, Knobloch-Westerwick S. 2014. Glancing up or down: mood management and selective social comparisons on social networking sites. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 41:33–39
- Jost JT, Kruglanski AW. 2002. The estrangement of social constructionism and experimental social psychology: history of the rift and prospects for reconciliation. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 6(3):168–87
- Junco R. 2013. Comparing actual and self-reported measures of Facebook use. Comput. Hum. Behav. 29:626–31
- Kiesler S, Siegel J, McGuire T. 1984. Social psychological aspects of computer-mediated communication. Am. Psychol. 39:1123–34
- Kim J, Lee J-ER. 2011. The Facebook paths to happiness: effects of the number of Facebook friends and self-presentation on subjective well-being. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 14(6):359–64
- Kramer ADI, Guillory JE, Hancock JT. 2014. Experimental evidence of massive-scale emotional contagion through social networks. PNAS 111(24):8788–90
- Kross E. 2017. Is psychology headed in the right direction? Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 12(4):694-98
- Kuru O, Bayer JB, Pasek J, Campbell SW. 2017. Understanding and measuring mobile Facebook use: who, why, and how? *Mobile Media Commun.* 5(1):102–20
- Kushlev K, Proulx JDE, Dunn EW. 2017. Digitally connected, socially disconnected: the effects of relying on technology rather than other people. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 76:68–74

- Lampe C, Gray R, Fiore AT, Ellison N. 2014. Help is on the way: patterns of responses to resource requests on Facebook. In Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, pp. 3–15. New York: ACM
- LaRose R, Connolly R, Lee H, Li K, Hales KD. 2014. Connection overload? A cross cultural study of the consequences of social media connection. *Inf. Syst. Manag.* 31(1):59–73
- Leary M. 1995. Self-Presentation: Impression Management and Interpersonal Behavior. Madison, WI: Brown & Benchmark Publ.
- Lee SY. 2014. How do people compare themselves with others on social network sites? The case of Facebook. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 32:253–60
- Levy S, Ayduk O, Downey G. 2001. The role of rejection sensitivity in people's relationships with significant others and valued social groups. In *Interpersonal Rejection*, ed. M Leary, pp. 251–90. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Lin R, Utz S. 2015. The emotional responses of browsing Facebook: happiness, envy, and the role of tie strength. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 52:29–38
- Lin R, van de Ven N, Utz S. 2018. What triggers envy on Social Network Sites? A comparison between shared experiential and material purchases. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 85:271–81
- Ling R. 2017. A brief history of individual addressability: the role of mobile communication in being permanently connected. In *Permanently Online, Permanently Connected: Living and Communicating in a POPC World*, ed. P Vorderer, D Hefner, L Reinecke, C Klimmt, pp. 10–17. New York: Routledge
- Ling R, Bjelland J, Sundsøy PR, Campbell SW. 2014. Small circles: mobile telephony and the cultivation of the private sphere. *Inf. Soc.* 30(4):282–91
- Ling R, Lai CH. 2016. Microcoordination 2.0: social coordination in the age of smartphones and messaging apps. J. Commun. 66(5):834–56
- Litt E. 2012. Knock, knock. Who's there? The imagined audience. J. Broadcast. Electron. Media 56(3):330-45
- Liu D, Ainsworth S, Baumeister RF. 2016. A meta-analysis of social networking online and social capital. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 20(4):369–91
- Liu D, Wright KB, Hu B. 2018. A meta-analysis of Social Network Site use and social support. *Comput. Educ.* 127:201–13
- Lu W, Hampton KN. 2017. Beyond the power of networks: differentiating network structure from social media affordances for perceived social support. *New Media Soc.* 19(6):861–79
- Mai L, Freudenthaler R, Schneider FM, Vorderer P. 2015. "I know you've seen it!" Individual and social factors for users' chatting behavior on Facebook. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 49:296–302
- Manago AM, Taylor T, Greenfield PM. 2012. Me and my 400 friends: the anatomy of college students' Facebook networks, their communication patterns, and well-being. Dev. Psychol. 48:369–80
- Marwick AE, boyd D. 2011. I tweet honestly, I tweet passionately: Twitter users, context collapse, and the imagined audience. *New Media Soc.* 13(1):114–33
- McFarland LA, Ployhart RE. 2015. Social media: a contextual framework to guide research and practice. J. Appl. Psychol. 100(6):1653–77
- Meier A, Schäfer S. 2018. The positive side of social comparison on social network sites: how envy can drive inspiration on Instagram. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw. 21(7):411–17
- O'Sullivan PB, Carr CT. 2018. Masspersonal communication: a model bridging the mass-interpersonal divide. New Media Soc. 20(3):1161–80
- Okdie BM, Ewoldsen DR, Muscanell NL, Guadagno RE, Eno CA, et al. 2014. Missed programs (you can't TiVo this one): why psychologists should study media. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 9(2):180–95

Orben AC, Dunbar RIM. 2017. Social media and relationship development: the effect of valence and intimacy of posts. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 73:489–98

- Orben AC, Przybylski AK. 2019. The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. Nat. Hum. Behav. 3:173–82
- Orehek E, Human LJ. 2017. Self-expression on social media: Do tweets present accurate and positive portraits of impulsivity, self-esteem, and attachment style? *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 43(1):60–70

Oyserman D. 2015. Culture as situated cognition. In *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences*, ed. R Scott, S Kosslyn. New York: Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118900772.etrds0067

- Park G, Schwartz HA, Eichstaedt JC, Kern ML, Kosinski M, et al. 2015. Automatic personality assessment through social media language. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 108(6):934–52
- Park P, Macy M. 2015. The paradox of active users. *Big Data Soc.* 2. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2053951715606164
- Park S, Baek YM. 2018. Two faces of social comparison on Facebook: the interplay between social comparison orientation, emotions, and psychological well-being. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 79:83–93
- Pettigrew TF. 2018. The emergence of contextual social psychology. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 44(7):963-71
- Rains SA, Brunner SR. 2015. What can we learn about social network sites by studying Facebook? A call and recommendations for research on social network sites. *New Media Soc.* 17(1):114–31
- Reinecke L, Klimmt C, Meier A, Reich S, Hefner D, et al. 2018. Permanently online and permanently connected: development and validation of the Online Vigilance Scale. PLOS ONE 13(10):e0205384
- Reinecke L, Trepte S. 2014. Authenticity and well-being on social network sites: a two-wave longitudinal study on the effects of online authenticity and the positivity bias in SNS communication. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 30:95–102
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. 2000. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am. Psychol. 55(1):68–78
- Schnauber-Stockmann A, Meier A, Reinecke L. 2018. Procrastination out of habit? The role of impulsive versus reflective media selection in procrastinatory media use. *Media Psychol.* 21(4):640–68
- Schneider FM, Zwillich B, Bindl MJ, Hopp FR, Reich S, Vorderer P. 2017. Social media ostracism: the effects of being excluded online. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 73:385–93
- Schoenebeck S, Ellison NB, Blackwell L, Bayer JB, Falk EB. 2016. Playful backstalking and serious impression management: how young adults reflect on their past identities on Facebook. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, pp. 1475–87. New York: ACM
- Schrock AR. 2015. Communicative affordances of mobile media: portability, availability, locatability, and multimediality. Int. J. Commun. 9:1229–46
- Seo M, Kim J, Yang H. 2016. Frequent interaction and fast feedback predict perceived social support: using crawled and self-reported data of Facebook users. J. Comput. Commun. 21:282–97
- Sheldon KM, Abad N, Hinsch C. 2011. A two-process view of Facebook use and relatedness need-satisfaction: Disconnection drives use, and connection rewards it. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 100:766–75
- Sherman LE, Payton AA, Hernandez LM, Greenfield PM, Dapretto M. 2016. The power of the like in adolescence: effects of peer influence on neural and behavioral responses to social media. *Psychol. Sci.* 27(7):1027–35
- Smith A. 2004. R U there? Ostracism by cell phone text messages. Group Dyn. Theory Res. Pract. 8(4):291-301
- Smock AD, Ellison NB, Lampe C, Wohn DY. 2011. Facebook as a toolkit: a uses and gratification approach to unbundling feature use. *Comput. Hum. Bebav.* 27(6):2322–29
- Sparrow B. 2018. The importance of contextual relevance. Nat. Hum. Behav. 2(9):607
- Sparrow B, Chatman L. 2013. Social cognition in the Internet age: same as it ever was? *Psychol. Inq.* 24(4):273– 92
- Sparrow B, Liu J, Wegner D. 2011. Google effects on memory: information at our fingertips. *Science* 333:776–79
- Stapleton P, Luiz G, Chatwin H. 2017. Generation validation: the role of social comparison in use of Instagram among emerging adults. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 20(3):142–49
- Stoycheff E, Liu J, Wibowo KA, Nanni DP. 2017. What have we learned about social media by studying Facebook? A decade in review. New Media Soc. 19(6):968–80
- Sujon Z, Viney L, Toker-Turnalar E. 2018. Domesticating Facebook: the shift from compulsive connection to personal service platform. Soc. Media Soc. 4(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305118803895
- Sumner EM, Ruge-Jones L, Alcorn D. 2018. A functional approach to the Facebook Like button: an exploration of meaning, interpersonal functionality, and potential alternative response buttons. *New Media Soc.* 20(4):1451–69
- Tamir DI, Hughes BL. 2018. Social rewards: from basic social building blocks to complex social behavior. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 13(6):700–17

- Tamir DI, Ward AF. 2015. Old desires, new media. In *The Psychology of Desire*, ed. W Hofmann, LF Nordgren, pp. 432–55. New York: Guilford
- Tandoc EC, Lou C, Min VLH. 2019. Platform-swinging in a poly-social-media context: how and why users navigate multiple social media platforms. *7. Comput.-Mediat. Commun.* 24:21–35
- Toma CL, Hancock JT. 2013. Self-affirmation underlies Facebook use. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 39:321–31
- Toma CL, Hancock JT, Ellison NB. 2008. Separating fact from fiction: an examination of deceptive selfpresentation in online dating profiles. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 34(8):1023–36
- Treem JW, Leonardi PM. 2013. Social media use in organizations: exploring the affordances of visibility, editability, persistence, and association. Ann. Int. Commun. Assoc. 36(1):143–89
- Triệu P, Bayer JB, Ellison NB, Schoenebeck S, Falk E. 2019. Who likes to be reachable? Availability preferences, weak ties, and bridging social capital. *Inf. Commun. Soc.* 22(8):1096–111
- Triệu P, Ellison NB. 2018. Channel navigation in interpersonal communication: contemporary practices and proposed future research directions. In A Networked Self and Love, ed. Z Papacharissi, pp. 31–49. New York: Routledge
- Valkenburg PM, Peter J. 2009. The effects of instant messaging on the quality of adolescents' existing friendships: a longitudinal study. *J. Commun.* 59(1):79–97
- Valkenburg PM, Peter J, Walther JB. 2016. Media effects: theory and research. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 67(1):315–38
- Van Bavel JJ, Mende-Siedlecki P, Brady WJ, Reinero DA. 2016. Contextual sensitivity in scientific reproducibility. PNAS 113(23):6454–59
- Vanden Abeele MMP, Antheunis ML, Schouten AP. 2016. The effect of mobile messaging during a conversation on impression formation and interaction quality. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 62:562–69
- Vazire S, Gosling SD. 2004. e-Perceptions: personality impressions based on personal websites. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 87(1):123–32
- Verduyn P, Lee DS, Park J, Shablack H, Orvell A, et al. 2015. Passive Facebook usage undermines affective well-being: experimental and longitudinal evidence. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 144(2):480–88
- Verduyn P, Ybarra O, Résibois M, Jonides J, Kross E. 2017. Do social network sites enhance or undermine subjective well-being? A critical review. Soc. Issues Policy Rev. 11(1):274–302
- Vogel EA, Rose JP. 2016. Self-reflection and interpersonal connection: making the most of self-presentation on social media. *Transl. Issues Psychol. Sci.* 2(3):294–302
- Vogel EA, Rose JP, Okdie BM, Eckles K, Franz B. 2015. Who compares and despairs? The effect of social comparison orientation on social media use and its outcomes. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 86:249–56
- Vorderer P, Hefner D, Reinecke L, Klimmt C. 2018. Permanently online and permanently connected: a new paradigm for communication research? In *Permanently Online, Permanently Connected: Living and Communicating in a POPC World*, ed. P Vorderer, D Hefner, L Reinecke, C Klimmt, pp. 3–9. New York: Routledge
- Vorderer P, Kohring M. 2013. Permanently online: a challenge for media and communication research. Int. 7. Commun. 7(1):188–96
- Vorderer P, Krömer N, Schneider FM. 2016. Permanently online–permanently connected: explorations into university students' use of social media and mobile smart devices. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 63:694–703
- Wallach L, Wallach M, Wallach MA. 1994. Gergen versus the mainstream: Are hypotheses in social psychology subject to empirical test? J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67(2):233–42
- Walther JB. 2011. Theories of computer-mediated communication. In *The SAGE Handbook of Interpersonal Communication*, ed. ML Knapp, JA Daly, pp. 443–80. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. 4th ed.
- Walther JB, Van Der Heide B, Hamel LM, Shulman HC. 2009. Self-generated versus other-generated statements and impressions in computer-mediated communication. *Commun. Res.* 36(2):229–53
- Walther JB, Liang YJ, DeAndrea DC, Tong ST, Carr CT, et al. 2011. The effect of feedback on identity shift in computer-mediated communication. *Media Psychol.* 14:1–26
- Wang M, Sun G, Chang Y, Jin Y, Leenus A, et al. 2018. A systematic survey of control groups in behavioral and social science trials. *Res. Soc. Work Pract.* 28:538–45
- Wang JL, Wang HZ, Gaskin J, Hawk S. 2017. The mediating roles of upward social comparison and selfesteem and the moderating role of social comparison orientation in the association between social networking site usage and subjective well-being. *Front. Psychol.* 8:771

- Wang Y-C, Hinsberger H, Kraut RE. 2016. Does saying this make me look good? In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 125–29. New York: ACM
- Weinstein E. 2017. Adolescents' differential responses to social media browsing: exploring causes and consequences for intervention. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 76:396–405
- Wilson RE, Gosling SD, Graham LT. 2012. A review of Facebook research in the social sciences. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 7(3):203–20
- Wise K, Alhabash S, Park H. 2010. Emotional responses during social information seeking on Facebook. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw. 13:555–62
- Zhao X, Lampe C, Ellison NB. 2016. The social media ecology: user perceptions, strategies and challenges. In Proceedings of the 34th Annual CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 89–100. New York: ACM
- Ziegele M, Reinecke L. 2017. No place for negative emotions? The effects of message valence, communication channel, and social distance on users' willingness to respond to SNS status updates. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 75:704–13